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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND
Southern Division

WILLIAM CUNNINGHAM and SHAKETTA
CUNNINGHAM, Husband and Wife

12053 Hallandale Terrace

Bowie, Maryland 20721

Plaintiffs
VS. : CASE NO.

PRINCE GEORGE’s COUNTY, MARYLAND
A Body Corporate and Politic

SERVE: M. Andree Green, Esquire

County Office of Law

County Administration Building

14741 Governor Oden Bowie Drive, Suite 5121
Upper Marlboro, Maryland 20772

and

OFFICER JENCHESKY SANTIAGO (Badge No. :
3668) ;
Individually and in his capacity

as an Olfficer of the Princes George’s County

Police Department

SERVE: M. Andree Green, Esquire

County Office of Law

County Administration Building

14741 Governor Oden Bowie Drive, Suite 5121
Upper Marlboro, Maryland 20772

Defendants

COMPLAINT

COMES NOW the Plaintiffs, WILLIAM CUNNINGHAM and SHAKETTA
CUNNINGHAN, who are husband and wife, by and through counsel, Edward James Leyden and

LEYDEN LAW LLC, and Gabriel J. Christian and THE LAW OFFICES OF GABRIEL J.
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CHRISTIAN & ASSOCIATES, LLC, to file this Complaint against Defendants PRINCE

GEORGE’S COUNTY, MARYLAND and OFC. JENCHESKY SANTIAGO (Badge No. 3668),

individually and in his capacity as an officer of the Prince George’s County Police Department,

and as cause therefore state as follow:

12.

I PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE

. Plaintiffs William Cunningham and Shaketta Cunningham were and are residents of Prince

Georges’ County, Maryland, at all times relevant.
Defendant Jenchesky Santiago (Badge No. 3668) was and is an officer of the Prince

George’s County Police Department, at all times relevant.

. Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland, was and is a body politic liable for, among

other things, state constitutional torts committed by those officers employed by the Prince
George’s County Police Department, at all times relevant.
This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.
The proper venue for this matter is the District of Maryland pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1391(b)(2).
Accordingly both venue and jurisdiction are appropriate and proper in this Court.

II. FACTS
Plaintiff William Cunningham is a 36-year-old husband and father and is married to Plaintiff
Shaketta Cunningham. Mr. Cunningham has been employed for the past five years as a
technician for a major HVAC service company. Ms. Cunningham works in an administrative
capacity for the United States Department of Justice. The family lives together in a

townhouse located at 12053 Hallandale Terrace in Bowie/Mitchellville, Maryland.
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At approximately 4:30 p.m. on Saturday, May 10, 2014, Mr. Cunningham was a passenger in
a 2013 Dodge Challenger owned and driven by his cousin, Kennieth Smith, who had just
parked the vehicle at the curbside in front of the Plaintiffs’ home.

After the two men had spent several minutes conversing in the parked vehicle, a marked
patrol vehicle being driven by Defendant Officer Jenchesky Santiago of the Prince George’s
County Police Department (PGPD) pulled up beside them. In response to Officer Santiago’s
demand to explain, “What you are doing,” Mr. Smith stated that he was, “Dropping [Mr.
Cunningham] off [because] he lives right here”; to buttress this statement, Mr. Smith pointed
with his hand to Mr. Cunningham’s Hallandale Terrace house. Officer Santiago complained
that Mr. Smith’s vehicle was parked illegally; however, no signage or other visible indication
existed then or now connoting that Mr. Smith’s vehicle had been stopped in an unlawful
place or manner.

Upon hearing Officer Santiago’s stated concerns about the space in which Mr. Smith’s
vehicle was parked, Mr. Cunningham, while still seated in the front passenger seat next to
Mr. Smith, stated to Officer Santiago, “I live right here and I’m about to go now.”

In response, Officer Santiago, who until this point had, himself, remained seated in his patrol
vehicle, shifted his police cruiser into reverse and backed up behind Mr. Smith’s parked
vehicle, declaiming in a loud voice, “You have my attention now!”

Mr. Cunningham, during this interval, had, for his part, exited Mr. Smith’s vehicle and was
traversing along the paved walkway leading to the front door of his home. As Mr.
Cunningham did so, Officer Santiago shouted at the Plaintiff to, “Get back in the car!”
When Mr. Cunningham had reached the front door of his house, Officer Santiago leapt from

his PGPD cruiser, ran over to where Mr. Cunningham was standing, and placed the barrel of
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his drawn service weapon against the right side of Mr. Cunningham’s head, all the while
repeatedly berating Mr. Cunningham to “get back in the car!”

While still holding his drawn handgun to the back of Mr. Cunningham’s head, Officer
Santiago began punching Mr. Cunningham on his torso and arms in an apparent effort to
alternately pull and push Mr. Cunningham back up the walkway towards Mr. Smith’s parked
vehicle. It was during this interval that Mr. Cunningham was able to somehow signal to his
cousin, Mr. Smith, imploring Mr. Smith to begin using his cellular phone to visually record
this ongoing encounter.

At one point during the interval while Officer Santiago was prodding Mr. Cunningham
toward the street, Mr. Cunningham turned toward Officer Santiago to ask why the policeman
had felt compelled to draw his weapon. Officer Santiago responded to Mr. Cunningham’s
inquiry by placing the aimed barrel of his firearm directly against Mr. Cunningham’s
forehead while continuing to shove Mr. Cunningham up the sidewalk. As he did so, Officer
Santiago taunted Mr. Cunningham by “dar[ing Mr. Cunnigham] to fucking fight me, son!”
Officer Santiago punctuated this statement by placing the barrel of his brandished weapon
into Mr. Cunningham’s opened mouth. Mr. Cunningham submitted to Officer Santiago’s
demands by turning toward Mr. Smith’s vehicle and placing his hands on its roof. Officer
Santiago then ordered Mr. Smith, who had remained seated in his vehicle during this time,

out of his car.

. At approximately this same time, Plaintiff Shaketta Cunningham came out from her home to

inquire about the ongoing activity she had heard and observed from inside. Upon being
ordered by Officer Santiago not to come near the vehicle where her husband and his cousin

were standing, Ms. Cunningham phoned the PGPD emergency line.
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As Ms. Cunningham was phoning the 911 number to complain about Officer Santiago’s
behavior, Officer Santiago was conducting a physical search of both Mr. Cunningham and
Mr. Smith, exclaiming all the while that, “You are going to learn about Officer Santiago; you

better ask someone [because] I just came from Iraq and I’'m not scared of none of ya’ll!”

. Officer Santiago then ordered Mr. Cunningham and Mr. Smith to sit down on the curb. When

Mr. Cunningham protested that the ground was wet, Officer Santiago responded by
announcing, “OK, you are getting locked up now,” and placing Mr. Cunningham in
handcuffs before forcing him to take a seat on the curb.

While Mr. Cunningham and Mr. Smith were sitting on the curbside, Officer Santiago
demanded to see Mr. Smith’s identification. When Mr. Smith indicated that his identification
documents remained in his vehicle and expressly refused to give Officer Santiago permission
to enter the car, Officer Santiago, apparently unimpeded, initiated a search of the vehicle
anyway. Mr. Smith further attempted to explain to Officer Santiago that he was employed as
a teacher for the Prince George’s County Public Schools System and was not engaged in any
unlawful conduct.

At approximately this time, two additional PGPD officers arrived on the scene, one a male
supervisor and the other a female uniformed officer.

Upon hearing from Mr. Cunningham about Officer Santiago’s behavior up to that point,
including his placement of the muzzle of a gun barrel against Mr. Cunningham’s head at
three distinct times during the recent encounter, the supervisor claimed ignorance because he
“was not there” and, hence, did not know if Mr. Cunningham had “threatened” Officer

Santiago.
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At about this time, Officer Santiago interjected to announce that he was having Mr. Smith’s
vehicle towed. The supervisor apparently overruled Officer Santiago, however, and informed
Mr. Smith that his vehicle would not, in fact, be towed.

Officer Santiago then removed the handcuffs from Mr. Cunningham’s wrists, while
informing Mr. Cunningham that he was still being cited for disorderly conduct. Officer
Santiago also advised Mr. Cunningham that, “next time, [Mr. Cunningham] need not have an
attitude because PG police shoot people!”

In an apparent attempt to offer an excuse for Officer Santiago’s conduct, the supervising
officer ascribed this behavior to Officer Santiago being a recent graduate of the PGPD Police
Academy and to the way that, allegedly, cadets are currently trained at the Academy in how
to interact with citizens.

No criminal activity of any sort on the part of either of the Plaintiffs or by Mr. Smith was
ever alleged or ascertained throughout the entirety of this encounter, which had been
triggered simply by Officer Santiago’s apparent curiosity about the way Mr. Smith’s vehicle
had been parked.

On December 17, 2014, the District Court of Maryland for Prince George’s County
dismissed the citation for Disorderly Conduct that Officer Santiago had issued against the
Plaintiff, Mr. Cunningham.

Officer Santiago acted unreasonably, from the instant he accosted Mr. Cunningham at his
doorstep, punched Mr. Cunningham, used his sidearm to threaten Mr. Cunningham by
repeatedly placing the muzzle of the gun to Mr. Cunningham’s head and in his mouth,
handcuffed Mr. Cunningham, and verbally intimidated Mr. Cunningham with the warning

that officers of the PGPD “shoot people.”
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Furthermore, this use of force and threatened use of deadly force was manifestly excessive in
light of the totality of the circumstances existing at the time of this incident. Additionally,
this physical force was utilized for improper purposes and to inflict unnecessary harm upon
the Plaintiff.

What is more, Plaintiff Shaketta Cunningham directly observed these life-threatening
humiliations being heaped upon her husband by Officer Santiago and reasonably feared for
Mr. Cunningham’s life and safety.

These unreasonable acts of Defendant Officer Santiago, thus, directly and proximately
caused serious and permanent injuries to both of the Plaintiffs, including psychological
injury.

Both of the Plaintiffs contend daily with the emotional trauma of this incident. They have
incurred medical expenses, suffer from the inability to enjoy life as they once did, and
suffered embarrassment along with emotional distress.

To the extent necessary, the Plaintiff has provided proper notice to Defendant Prince
George’s County, Maryland, in accordance with Maryland Code Annotated, Courts &

Judicial Proceedings Article, §§ 5-301, et seq.

COUNT I (Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 — Defendant Officer Santiago)

The allegations set forth in 9 1 through 37, above, are incorporated herein by reference.

The use of excessive force by the Defendant Santiago was in violation of the Plaintiffs’ rights
under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from unreasonable
seizures. Furthermore, this PDPD Officer displayed deliberate indifference to other rights of

the Plaintiffs under the First Amendment and otherwise, thereby violating the rights of the
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Plaintiffs to due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution.

40. This claim for damages and other appropriate relief is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983
for violation of the Plaintiffs’ civil rights by this PGPD Officer, whose actions were taken
under color of State law.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs, WILLIAM CUNNIGHAM and SHAKETTA
CUNNINGHAM, respectfully request the following relief:
(a) Compensatory damages in the amount of Two Million Dollars and punitive
damages in the amount of Ten Million Dollars;
(b) Under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, the attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this
action;
(c) Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and

(d) Any and all other relief that this Honorable Court may see fit to grant.

COUNT II (Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Pursuant to Monell v. Dept. of Social
Services, 436 U.S. 658, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 56 L.Ed. 611 — Defendant Prince George’s
County, Maryland )

41. The allegations set forth in 9 1 through 40, above, are incorporated herein by reference.

42. The use of excessive force by Defendant Santiago was in violation of the Plaintiffs’ rights
under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from unreasonable
seizures. Furthermore, this PGPD Officer displayed deliberate indifference to the Plaintiffs’
rights under the First Amendment and otherwise, thereby violating their individual rights to

due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
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43. This claim for damages and other appropriate relief is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983
for violations of the Plaintiff’s civil rights by Defendant Santiago (the PGPD Officer), whose
actions were taken under color of State law. The actions of this PGPD Officer was caused by
the custom and practice of Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland in:

a  Failing to adequately train and supervise its police officers in effectively and
safely handling traffic and/or investigatory stops;

b  Failing to adequately screen its officers for mental and medical fitness;

¢ Failing to maintain adequate internal checks on excessive use of force by its
police officers;

d Failing to adequately train and supervise its police officers in upholding the
Constitutional rights of members of the public to electronically record the
activities of police officers as those officers perform their public duties (see, e.g.,
Glik v. Cunniffe, 655 F.3d 78 (1* Cir. 2011)); and

e Failing to adequately punish police officers who, in discharging their duties on
behalf of Prince George’s County, Maryland, utilize excessive force and/or
otherwise violate the Constitutional rights of members of the public.

44. These customs and practices of Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland, promoted the
practice of its police officers in utilizing excessive force in conducting traffic and/or
investigatory stops and/or otherwise violating the Constitutional rights of members of the
public.

45. Injuries to those in the class of persons who are the subject of traffic and/or investigatory
stops, including the Plaintiffs was a foreseeable consequence of these customs and practices

of Prince George’s County, Maryland.
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46. Injuries to those members of the public who, upon witnessing or experiencing the use of
excessive force by PGPD officer, voice objection and/or record the event — and who are then
subject to seizure — was also a foreseeable consequence of the customs and practices of
Prince George’s County, Maryland.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff WILLIAM CUNNIGHAM and SHAKETTA
CUNNINGHAM, respectfully requests the following relief:
(a) Compensatory damages in the amount of Two Million Dollars and punitive
damages in the amount of Ten Million Dollars;
(b) Under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, the attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this
action;
(c) Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and

(d) Any and all other relief that this Honorable Court may see fit to grant.

COUNT III (Violation of Articles 24 and 26 of Md. Declaration of Rights —
Defendant Officer Santiago)

47. The allegations set forth in 9 1 through 46, above, are incorporated herein by reference.

48. The use of excessive force by Defendant Santiago (the PGPD Officer) was in violation of the
Plaintiff’s rights under Article 26 of the Maryland Declaration of Rights to be free from
unreasonable seizures. Furthermore, this PGPD Officer displayed deliberate indifference to
the Plaintiff’s rights to due process of law under Article 24 of the Maryland Declaration of

Rights.

10
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49. This claim for damages and other appropriate relief is brought for the violation of the
Plaintiffs’ state constitution rights by the PGPD Officer, individually and in unison, whose
actions were taken under color of State law.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs, WILLIAM CUNNIGHAM and SHAKETTA
CUNNINGHAM respectfully request the following relief:
(a) Compensatory damages in the amount of Two Million Dollars and punitive
damages in the amount of Ten Million Dollars;
(b) Under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, the attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this
action;
(c) Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and

(d) Any and all other relief that this Honorable Court may see fit to grant.

COUNT 1V (Violation of Articles 24 and 26 of Md. Declaration of Rights —
Respondeat Superior — Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland)

50. The allegations set forth in 9 1 through 49, above, are incorporated herein by reference.

51. At all times relevant, Defendant Santiago (the PGPD Officers) was acting within the scope of
his employment with Defendant, Prince George’s County, Maryland.

52. Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland, is responsible for damages suffered as a result
of state constitutional torts committed by its police officers in the scope of their employment.

53. Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland, therefore, is responsible for damages suffered
by each of the Plaintiffs as a result of state constitutional violations committed by this PGPD

Officer, as set forth in Count III, above.

11
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WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs, WILLIAM CUNNIGHAM and SHAKETTA
CUNNINGHAM, respectfully request the following relief:
(a) Compensatory damages in the amount of Two Million Dollars and punitive
damages in the amount of Ten Million Dollars;
(b) Under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, the attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this
action;
(c) Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and

(d) Any and all other relief that this Honorable Court may see fit to grant.

COUNT V (Assault and/or Battery — Defendant Officer Santiago)

54. The allegations set forth in 9 1 through 53, above, are incorporated herein by reference.

55. The conduct of Defendant Santiago (the PGPD Officer) constituted an intentional, non-
consensual touching of Plaintiff William Cunningham, and was undertaken deliberately and
with actual malice. Defendant Santiago, by his conduct, additionally and concurrently placed
Plaintiff William Cunningham in reasonable fear of imminent fatal and/or serious bodily
harm.

56. Plaintiff Shaketta Cunningham directly heard and observed the conduct of Defendant
Santiago toward her husband and, furthermore, has suffered proximate harm to her marital
relationship with Plaintiff William Cunningham and he, likewise, with her.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs, WILLIAM CUNNIGHAM and SHAKETTA
CUNNINGHAM, respectfully request the following relief:
(a) Compensatory damages in the amount of Two Million Dollars and punitive

damages in the amount of Ten Million Dollars;

12
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(b) Under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, the attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this

action;

(c) Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and

(d) Any and all other relief that this Honorable Court may see fit to grant.

JURY DEMAND

The Plaintiffs do hereby, by and through counsel, respectfully request trial of this matter by a

jury.

May 9, 2015

13

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Edward James Leyden
Edward James Leyden
District of MD Bar No.: 16913
Leyden Law LLC
14300 Gallant Fox Lane, Suite 103
Bowie, Maryland 20715
301.390.6600 (phone)
301.464.7357 (facsimile)
ejleyden@aol.com
Counsel for the Plaintiffs

/s/ Gabriel J. Christian
Gabriel J. Christian
District of MD Bar No.: 09584
Gabriel J. Christian & Assoc., LLC
3060 Mitchellville Road, Suite 218
Bowie, Maryland 20716
301.218.9400 (phone)
301.218.9405 (facsimile)
gabriel@gclawmd.com
Counsel for the Plaintiffs
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of Maryland

WILLIAM CUNNINGHAM and SHAKETTA
CUNNINGHAM, Husband and Wife

Plaintiff(s)
V. Civil Action No.
PRINCE GEORGE'S COUNTY, MARYLAND
A body Corporate and Politic
and
OFFICER JENCHESKY SANTIAGO, Badge No. 3668

e N e e N W e

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) PRINCE GEORGE’s COUNTY, MARYLAND
A Body Corporate and Politic
SERVE: M. Andree Green, Esquire
County Office of Law
County Administration Building
14741 Governor Oden Bowie Drive, Suite 5121
Upper Marlboro, Maryland 20772

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,

whose name and address are: Edward James Leyden
LEYDEN LAW LLC
14300 Gallant Fox Lane, Suite 103
Bowie, Maryland 20715
301.390.6600(phone)/301.464.7357 (fax)
ejleyden@leydenlaw.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

Date:

(O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

(3 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of

)

)

)

)

Plaintiff(s) )

V. ; Civil Action No.

)

)

)

)

Defendant(s) )

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 ()

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

Date:

(O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

O I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O Iserved the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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